#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

KATHLEEN MILLER and ROD MILLER,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

CASE NUMBER: SC05-936

V.

:

SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE CO.,

:

Appellee/Defendant.

# ON A CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT

## **APPELLANTS' INITIAL BRIEF**

Charles P. Schropp H. Vance Smith

Florida Bar Number: 206881 Florida Bar Number: 109226 Amy S. Farrior Smith Clark Delesie Bierley

Florida Bar Number: 684147 Mueller & Kadyk Schropp, Buell & Elligett, P.A. P. O. Box 2939

3003 W. Azeele Street, Suite 100 Tampa, Florida 33601-2939

Tampa, Florida 33609 Telephone: (813) 226-1880 Telephone: (813) 874-2600 Facsimile: (813) 226-1879

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

Appellants, Kathleen Miller and Rod Miller, refer to themselves as "the Millers" or as "Plaintiffs," their status in the trial court.

The Millers refer to Appellee, Scottsdale Insurance Company, as "Scottsdale" or as "Defendant," its status in the trial court.

The Millers refer to the Cuban Club Foundation, Inc. and Circula Cubano, Inc. collectively as "the Cuban Club."

As this appeal has been certified from the federal court system by the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the Millers designate references to the record on appeal by the prefix "DE" for the federal district court docket entry, followed by the page number of the document.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Scottsdale issued a commercial property and general liability insurance policy to the Cuban Club for the period October 27, 2000 to October 27, 2001; the Cuban Club financed the policy premium through Premium Financing Specialists, Inc. ("PFS") (DE 23, p. 1). Northside Bank of Tampa ("Northside"), the Cuban Club's mortgagee, was an additional insured on the policy (DE 23, p. 3).

The financing agreement contained a power of attorney granting PFS authority to cancel the policy (the actual policy number was misidentified in the financing agreement) in the event of non-payment by the Cuban Club (DE 23, pp. 1-2, fn. 1). When the Cuban Club failed to make its December, 2000, payment, PFS mailed a "notice of cancellation" to the Cuban Club and to the brokers for the policy on December 28, 2000; this notice purported to cancel the policy as of December 31, 2000 (DE 23, p. 2). The notice of cancellation was not received by Scottsdale until January 9, 2001 (DE 23, p. 3). The policy also contained a provision requiring Scottsdale to provide Northside, as the mortgagee, with ten days notice prior to cancellation of the policy for non-payment of premiums (DE 23, p. 3). Scottsdale did not give this required notice to Northside until January 22, 2001 (DE 23, p. 4).

Kathleen Miller was injured on the Cuban Club's property on January 13, 2001 -- four days after Scottsdale received the notice of cancellation, but nine days before Scottsdale provided the statutorily required notice of cancellation to Northside (DE 23, p. 2).

The Millers sued the Cuban Club in state court for damages arising from Kathleen Miller's injuries on the Cuban Club's property (DE 23, p. 2). The Millers recovered a judgment against the Cuban Club in the amount of \$330,000 (DE 3, p. 1). The Cuban Club assigned to the Millers all of its rights as named insured under its policy with Scottsdale (DE 23, p. 2). The Millers then filed suit against Scottsdale in state court alleging the Scottsdale policy provides coverage for the damages for which the Cuban Club is legally responsible (DE 3, p. 2; DE 23, p. 2). Scottsdale removed the case to federal court on the basis of diversity of citizenship (DE 2).

The Millers and Scottsdale filed cross motions for summary judgment (DE 11, 14). Scottsdale contended it had no duty to pay the Millers for any portion of the judgment on the ground that its policy had been canceled as to the Cuban Club on January 9, 2001, and thus was not in effect on the date of Kathleen Miller's injury (DE 11, p. 3). The Millers asserted Scottsdale's policy remained in force as of the date of Mrs. Miller's injury because cancellation of the policy could not take

effect prior to the statutorily required notice to Northside, and this notice did not occur until after the date of the injury to Kathleen Miller (DE 14, p. 1).

The federal district court granted Scottsdale's motion for summary judgment. That court held that although the policy requires Scottsdale to provide written notice to Northside, the Cuban Club's mortgagee, ten days before the effective date of cancellation in the event of non-payment of premium, "this notice requirement exists for the exclusive benefit of Northside apart from any duty owed by Scottsdale to the Cuban Club." Therefore, according to the federal district court, "Scottsdale's notice to Northside nine days after Kathleen Miller's injury fails to invalidate the cancellation of the Cuban Club's insurance on January 9, 2001" (DE 23, p. 4). However, the federal district court also recognized this issue represented an unsettled issue of Florida law, and in its order suggested certification of the question to this Court in the event of an appeal (DE 23, p. 4, fn. 2).

The Millers appealed this summary judgment to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. On May 26, 2005, the Eleventh Circuit issued an opinion certifying to this Court the question of whether

WHETHER §627.848, FLA. STAT. (2000) CONTEMPLATES A SINGLE DATE OF CANCELLATION FOR THE INSURANCE CONTRACT AS A WHOLE OR WHETHER THE CONTRACT CAN BE CANCELLED AS TO DIFFERENT INSUREDS AT DIFFERENT TIMES DEPENDING ON WHEN A STATUTORILY REQUIRED NOTICE IS GIVEN TO THAT INSURED?

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The federal district court erred in holding that the insurance policy

Scottsdale issued to the Cuban Club had been canceled as to the Cuban Club by

January 13, 2001, because all of the applicable statutory prerequisites to

cancellation set forth in Section 627.848 -- the statute governing cancellations of
insurance policies by premium finance companies -- expressly provides for a single
cancellation date on which "the insurance contract" is cancelled. That cancellation
date does not occur until all applicable statutory prerequisites to cancellation have
been satisfied. The Florida premium financing statute does not authorize
piecemeal cancellation of a policy; rather, once the statutory prerequisites have
been met, the policy is canceled as of a single date that is applicable to all insureds.

Florida's statutory determination that there is a single cancellation date is also reflected in a unanimous body of Florida case law interpreting

SECTION 627.848, FLA. STAT. (2000) CONTEMPLATES A SINGLE DATE OF CANCELLATION FOR THE ENTIRE INSURANCE CONTRACT.

This appeal presents the certified question of whether the Florida premium financing statute, §627.848, Fla. Stat. 2000 ("§627.848(1)(a)1, Fla. Stat. (2000)§627.848, the statute which governs cancellations by premium finance

companies, contemplates separate, successive dates of cancellation for different insureds, or a single cancellation date applicable to all insureds.

Both §627.848 with particular relevance to this case are as follows:

- (1) When a premium finance agreement contains a power of attorney or other authority enabling the premium finance company to cancel any insurance contract listed in the agreement, the insurance contract shall not be canceled unless cancellation is in accordance with the following provisions:
- (a)1. Not less than 10 days' written notice shall be mailed to each insured shown on the premium finance agreement of the intent of the premium finance company to cancel her or his insurance contract unless the defaulted installment payment is received within 10 days.

\* \* \*

- (c) Upon receipt of a copy of the cancellation notice by the insurer or insurers, the insurance contract shall be canceled as of the date specified in the cancellation notice with the same force and effect as if the notice of cancellation had been submitted by the insured herself or himself, whether or not the premium finance company has complied with the notice requirement of this subsection, without requiring any further notice to the insured or the return of the insurance contract.
- (d) All statutory, regulatory, and contractual restrictions providing that the insured may not cancel her or his insurance contract unless she or he or the insurer first satisfies such restrictions by giving a prescribed notice to a governmental agency, the insurance carrier, a mortgagee, an individual, or a person designated to receive such notice for such

governmental agency, insurance carrier, or individual shall apply when cancellation is effected under the provisions of this section. The insurer, in accordance with such prescribed notice when it is required to give such notice in behalf of itself or the insured, shall give notice to such governmental agency, person, mortgagee, or individual; and it shall determine and calculate the effective date of cancellation from the day it receives the copy of the notice of cancellation from the premium finance company (emphasis added).

The plain language of §627.848(1), Fla. Stat. (2000)§677.848(1)(d), Fla. Stat. (2000)§677.848(1)(d), which states that the insurer shall give the prescribed notice to the mortgagee or other additional party and that "it shall determine and calculate the effective date of cancellation from the day it receives the copy of the notice of cancellation from the premium finance company." This provision unequivocally requires an insurer that has received a notice of cancellation from a premium finance company under a policy requiring notice to an additional party to calculate a new date of cancellation, based on the additional party notice requirement, that only **begins** when the insurance company receives the notice of cancellation from the premium finance company. Applied to the facts of this case, the statute expressly dictates that the earliest date on which Scottsdale could possibly have been effectively canceled the Cuban Club policy was January 19,

2001, six days **after** Ms. Miller's accident (as previously noted, the policy was not actually canceled until even later).

In addition to being directly at odds with the express language of the statute, the federal district court's holding that §627.848 and when it gives notice to additional parties. The statute employs a common sense approach that eliminates this problem by providing that the policy is canceled on a single date as to all insureds. The amount of the premium that the insurance company is entitled to retain can thus easily be calculated using the cancellation provisions of the policy.

Florida's statutory determination that there is but a single date of cancellation after all statutory prerequisites have been met is also clearly reflected in the Florida case law interpreting *Southern Group Indemnity, Inc. v. Cullen*,

831 So. 2d 681 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) *Cullen*, like this case, involved a situation in which a notice of cancellation requested a cancellation date prior to the date on which the notice was received by the insurance company. §677.848(1)(d) served to incorporate all contractual restrictions on cancellation, including a provision requiring advance notice of cancellation to the insurer. *Cullen* controlled the outcome of this case. Section *Cullen* to have incorporated a contractual restriction on cancellation requiring advance notice from the insured, and to prevent cancellation of the policy under the statute until that advance notice

provision had been satisfied. The Millers respectfully submit that it necessarily follows that this same statutory provision, which in the present case incorporated a contractual notice provision requiring ten days prior notice of cancellation to Northside, must likewise have served to delay the effective cancellation date of the Scottsdale policy until this additional party notice requirement had been satisfied.

In fact, this case presents a more compelling argument for delaying the cancellation date than *Cullen*, the court found that §627.848 prevents an insured, or its agent, from cancelling its own policy with less than the required statutory notice, it obviously must also preclude the insurer from prematurely cancelling the policy when the insurer has failed to satisfy a statutory obligation imposed on the insurer. However, other than noting that *Cullen* on the notice issue in this case.

Other Florida case law buttresses the conclusion that all statutory prerequisites must be satisfied before a policy may be canceled under *Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland v. First State Ins. Co.*,

677 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1996)§627.848(1)(d), and held: "Failure to give the prescribed notice nullifies the attempted cancellation by the premium finance company." 677 So.2d, at 268. Similarly, in American Reliance Ins. Co. v. Martinez, 683 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996) ("*Martinez*"), the Third District upheld a jury verdict finding that an insured's efforts to cancel its own insurance

policy were ineffective when the insurer had not provided the mortgagee and loss payee with proper notice of cancellation.

The federal district court purported to distinguish both *Martinez* on the ground that, in these cases, the mortgagee who failed to receive notice of cancellation was an injured plaintiff in the underlying suit. Neither of these decisions, however, purport to limit their holding only to claims by mortgagees. Furthermore, by purporting to distinguish these cases on this ground, the federal district court presupposed the correctness of its assumption that the statute authorizes piecemeal cancellations as to different insureds at different times.

In Alfred v. Security National Ins. Co., 766 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) ("Alfred"), the court reversed a summary judgment in favor of the insurer on a tow truck driver's policy that was alleged to have been canceled for non-payment prior to an accident; however, the insurer had failed to comply with an ordinance requiring that thirty days notice of the cancellation be given to the Broward County Consumer Affairs Department. Relying on the then-current statutory equivalent of Alfred court held that, if the insurer was required to give notice to this department, and had failed to do so, the cancellation was ineffective.

The federal district court purported to distinguish §627.848. Moreover, this purported distinction of the *Cullen*. In *Alfred* on the ground that the Millers were

not "intended beneficiaries" of the notice provision is not only unsupported by the opinion in *Cullen*.

In contrast to the substantial body of Florida authority refusing to recognize attempted cancellations that did not fully comply with *Dunbar v. National Union Fire Ins. Co.*,

561 N.E.2d 450 (Ill.App. 1990) *Dunbar*, an intermediate Illinois appellate court summarily dismissed the claim that a policy cancellation was ineffective because the insurance company had not notified third party lien holders with the statement that: "This requirement is irrelevant to any duty owed to the insured plaintiff." The only authority cited for this holding was a "see generally" citation to an earlier Illinois intermediate appellate court decision that did not even involve a premium financing statute. The opinion also quoted only a part of the Illinois statute, and did not include the provision which required notice to additional parties. Finally, the out-of-state *Cullen*, *Martinez* and *Dunbar* may or may not be good law in Illinois, it is plainly not the law in Florida.

In short, the federal district court purported to distinguish a unanimous body of Florida authority requiring strict compliance with statutory cancellation

requirements of *Cullen* also explicitly recognizes Scottsdale's position as a fallacious argument, rejecting a similar contention in that case with the observation that: "[n]or do we see any reason why the insurer should feel aggrieved by having to provide coverage, since the premium, which had been advanced by the finance company, was current" (831 So. 2d, at 683).

In sum, the federal district court's ruling that the Cuban Club policy was cancelled before Ms. Miller was injured is contrary to the plain language of \$627.848 contemplates a single cancellation date for the policy as a whole.

Premium finance companies protect themselves in establishing the repayment schedule. In this case, the premium finance company received a total of \$2,327.53 in payments from the Cuban Club (consisting of a down payment of \$1,743.42 and a November, 2003 payment of \$584.16); the premium charged by Scottsdale for the period the policy was in effect was \$1,964.38 (consisting of a total policy premium of \$6,605.26, less a return premium of \$4,640.88) (see DE 11, Exs. A and B). Thus, as of the date of cancellation, the premium finance company had received almost \$400 more in payments from the Cuban Club than Scottsdale charged for this coverage.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated, the Millers respectfully submit the federal district court erred as a matter of law in holding that the insurance policy issued by Scottsdale to the Cuban Club had been canceled as to the Cuban Club by January 13, 2001, the date when Kathleen Miller was injured on the Cuban Club's property, when all of the applicable statutory prerequisites to cancellation had not been satisfied by that date. The Millers request this Court answer the certified question by holding that the statute contemplates a single cancellation date. The Eleventh Circuit can then reverse the final judgment entered below and direct the entry of judgment for the Millers.