# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

KATHLEEN MILLER AND ROD MILLER,

Appellants/Plaintiffs,

v. Case No.: SC05-936

SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY,

Appellee/Defendant.

### ANSWER BRIEF SCOTTSDALE INSURANCE COMPANY

On Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals
For the Eleventh Circuit
Case No.: 04-11660-JJ

BUTLER PAPPAS WEIHMULLER
KATZ CRAIG LLP
ANTHONY J. RUSSO, ESQ.
Florida Bar No.: 0508608
One Harbour Place, Suite 500
777 S. Harbour Island Boulevard
Tampa, Florida 33602
Phone: (813) 281-1900; Fax: (813) 281-0900
Attorneys for Appellee Scottsdale Insurance

Attorneys for Appellee, Scottsdale Insurance Company

## **

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

Section I of the policy contains an insuring clause that provides indemnity to the Insured when insured property is damaged.

### A. Coverage

We will pay for direct physical loss of or damage to Covered Property at the premises described in the Declarations caused by or resulting from any Covered Cause of Loss.

(DE 11; Policy p. 00057). The Mortgagee's insurable interest in the property exists because the property stands as collateral for a loan, the impairment of which would be impairment of this collateral.

Section II of the policy provides liability insurance coverage, *i.e.*, an obligation to provide a defense and indemnity to the "Insured," as that term is defined in the liability coverage section entitled "Who is an Insured." (Policy p. 00117; App. 6). This defense (*i.e.*, the hiring of an attorney for the insured) and

The Mortgagee, Northside Bank, is insured only under the Property Insurance part of the policy.

indemnity (payment of a judgment or settlement up to liability policy limits) is provided when the Insured incurs certain enumerated liabilities, *e.g.*, a personal injury claim for a slip and fall on the insured's premises. This case, of course, involves a claim by the assignee, (i.e. the Millers) of the first Named Insured, (*i.e.*, the Cuban Club) for liability coverage only.

This entirely separate insuring agreement states as follows:

### 1. Insuring Agreement

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured against any "suit" seeking those damages.

(DE 11; Policy p. 00111). The Mortgagee is not an insured under the liability insurance coverage part of the policy. This case does not involve a claim by the Mortgagee, Northside Bank, for property insurance coverage.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Mortgagees are not among the entities deeded to be "an insured" "See Section II – Who is an Insured" defining the parties insured in the Commercial General Liability Coverage form. (See Policy p. 00117; App. 6).

The insurer's obligations under the property and liability coverages are separate, and severable, obligations. One part may exist, and the other may be cancelled. This is exactly what happened in *State Farm Fire & Cas. Co. v. Aetna Fire Ins. Underwriters Co.*, *supra*. *See generally Flores v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 819 So. 2d 740, 749(Fla. 2002)(recognizing that fraud in relation to one severable coverage part of a policy may void coverage as to that part and yet not disturb coverage as to another part). *Cf. Wong Ken v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co.* 685 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)(policy condition that *entire* policy was void for fraud as to any part was enforceable).

c. Both the liability and property coverage parts of Scottsdale's policy, except for the Mortgagee's interest discussed above, were cancelled when Scottsdale received the notice of cancellation from the premium finance company.

The cancellation provision of the policy provides: "A. Cancellation 1. The first Named Insured shown in the Declarations may cancel this policy by mailing or delivering to us advance written notice of cancellation." This provision is found in the form entitled "Cancellation and Nonrenewal-Florida," DE 11, Policy p. 00071, and is incorporated into the "Cancellation Condition" section of the "Common Policy Conditions." (DE 11; Policy p. 00054). This "Common Policy Conditions" applies to "[a]ll Coverage Parts included in this policy. . . ." Therefore, the Florida cancellation clause applies to both the property coverage and liability coverage parts of the policy. Thus, the Named Insured, *i.e.*, Cuban

Club, (or its agent, PFS) has a contractual right to cancel the entire policy with written notice to Scottsdale. By contrast, when the insurer cancels the policy for non-payment, the separate contractual right of the Mortgagee to 10 days' advance notice of cancellation is triggered. (Scottsdale treated this situation as a cancellation for non-payment, and provided the 10-day notice to the mortgagee.)

When Scottsdale received the premium finance company's notice of cancellation on January 9, 2001, the entire policy, except for the Mortgagee's interest in the property insurance coverage, was cancelled. *See* section 627.848(1)(c)("Upon receipt of a copy of the cancellation notice by the insurer . . . the insurance contract shall be canceled as of the date specified in the cancellation notice with the same force and effect as if the notice of cancellation had been submitted by the insured himself or herself."). Only the Mortgagee's coverage persisted.

# 2. Section 627.848, FLA. STAT. (2002) acts to enforce existing contractual, statutory and regulatory rights.

### a. Section 627.848 has three functions pertinent to this case:

First: It requires the premium finance company to send advance notice "to each insured" before sending the cancellation notice to the Insurer; <sup>10</sup>

<sup>627.848(1)(</sup>a)1 provides "not less that 10 days' written notice shall be mailed to each insured shown on the premium finance agreement of the intent of the premium finance company to cancel her or his insurance contract . . . ."

Second: It provides that cancellation is effective when this notice from the premium finance company is received by the Insurer;<sup>11</sup>

Third: It provides that existing contractual, regulatory and statutory restrictions on cancellation as to mortgagees and governmental entities are not disturbed. 12

Nothing in this statute purports to create or extend or disturb the contractual rights of parties as to notice of cancellation.

# b. The unifying principle in all case opinions construing section 627.848 is this: the statute will be applied to enforce the existing contractual, statutory or regulatory rights to notice of cancellation.

This statute has never been applied by a court to disturb the contractual, statutory or regulatory rights of the parties as to cancellation of an insurance policy.

Section 627.848(c) provides that "upon receipt by a copy of the cancellation notice by the insurer or insurers, the insurance contract shall be canceled as of the date specified in the cancellation notice with the same force and effect as if the notice of cancellation had been submitted by the insured herself or himself, whether or not the premium finance company has complied with the notice requirement of this subsection, without requiring any further notice to the insured . . . ."

Section 627.848(d) provides that "all statutory, regulatory, and contractual restrictions providing that the insured may not cancel her or his insurance contract unless she or he or the insurer first satisfies such restrictions by giving a prescribed notice . . . shall apply when cancellation is effected under . . . this section."

This Court, in the same vein, should construe the statute to enforce the contract and not, as the Appellants urge, to rewrite the contract. Analysis of the Florida cases that have construed the statute follows:

Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland v. First State Insurance Co., 677 So. 2d 266 (Fla. 1996), addressed the effect of section 627.848 on facts that were similar to, but not precisely on point with, the current case. The operative policy language was virtually identical, <sup>13</sup> and as in this case, the premium finance company cancelled the policy. But unlike this case, in *First State* the property was damaged by fire implicating the mortgagee's coverage under the policy and the insurer, in *First State*, had failed to give written notice of cancellation to the mortgagee.

Here, the Mortgagee's coverage is not implicated, and the separate property coverage was not triggered. The decision of this Court in *First State* rested on this independent contractual obligation of the insurer to provide notice to the mortgagee. The insurer's breach of that obligation blocked the attempted cancellation of the policy but only *as to the mortgagee*. This case, by contrast, involves no breach of a contractual notice obligation to the Mortgagee or to any

The insurer's mortgagee clause in the *First State* case read: "If we cancel this policy, we will give written notice to the mortgage holder at least: (1) ten days before the effective date of cancellation if we cancel for your nonpayment of premium . . . ."

insured who suffered an insured loss. This Court, in *First State*, ruled that the statute only enforces the contract, and no more:

This mortgage clause operated as an independent contract of insurance between First State and [the mortgageholder] and made notice to the mortgagee a prerequisite to cancellation when the insured cancelled the policy [citation omitted]. Because notice was required under the contract, notice was also required under the statute [section 627.848].

*Id.* at 268. Since the ruling in *First State* expressly limited enforcement of the statute to the enforcement of the existing contractual obligations, and since Scottsdale's policy permits differential cancellation as to the named insured and the Mortgagee, therefore section 627.848 permits the policy to be cancelled immediately as to the Named Insured and later as to the Mortgagee.

Both the federal district and circuit courts have distinguished *First State* on the grounds that the case did not address whether a failure to provide notice of cancellation to a mortgagee also means that the policy cannot be cancelled as to the named insured. Appellants, at IB 16, have attacked this distinction claiming that *First State* did not purport to limit its holding to claims by mortgagees. This attack fails. The two operative principles in *First State* were (1) that the Mortgagee clause operates as an "independent contract of insurance between First State and

See district court opinion (App. 10) at footnote 4; circuit court opinion (App. 11) at footnote 6.

Commonwealth and made notice to the mortgagee a prerequisite to cancellation when the insured cancelled the policy," *First State* at 268, and (2) "because notice was required under the contract, notice was also required under the statute." *Id.* at 268.

Applying these principles to this case yields the following result: during the pendency of the 10-day notice period, the mortgagee's contractual interest is not cancelled. But the continued viability of this separate contract for ten days, does not mean the entire policy, including the other, severable contracts of insurance contained in the policy, which have been properly cancelled, likewise continue.

The case of *American Reliance Insurance Co. v. Martinez*, 683 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), is so brief as to be unhelpful. It is not clear whether this case implicated the mortgagee's property insurance coverage or unrelated liability coverage for the named insured. Nothing in the opinion construes the statute as disturbing existing contractual rights or expanding coverage for the Named Insured during the 10-day hiatus created for the benefit of the mortgagee.

In the case of *Alfred v. Security National Insurance Co.*, 766 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), the insurer issued a singular policy of liability insurance, *i.e.*, one with no separate property insurance component. *Id.* at 450. The insured was a towing company under contract with the municipality to provide towing services. A municipal ordinance, *i.e.*, a statute, required that the "*insurance shall provide for*"

thirty (30) days notice . . . to the Consumer Affairs Division of any material change, cancellation or expiration of the policy." Id. at 452. This ordinance, or statute, controlled cancellation notice of the entire policy. By contrast, the Mortgagee clause in Scottsdale's policy does not affect the entire policy. The Mortgagee clause in Scottsdale's policy controls only the Mortgagee's right to notice. Application of section 627.848 in Alfred enforced the existing statutory rights belonging to the municipality to notice of cancellation affecting the entire policy. The municipality's right to notice was not created by section 627.848; the right to notice was created by the municipal ordinance. Section 627.848 simply enforced that statutory right, which happened to control the entire policy in that case. Here, the Mortgagee's right to notice applies only to its own, separate contractual rights under the property section of the policy.

The federal district and circuit courts ruled *Alfred* was not controlling, <sup>15</sup> and indeed, the Appellants in their Initial brief (in the circuit court) conceded the same. ("[T]here is no controlling precedent . . ." Initial Brief – circuit court at 20). The distinction, argued by Appellants to this Court, as to the insured's status of intended beneficiary is, in the end, entirely academic. What is important is this: The cases applying section 627.848 always do so in the way that enforces existing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Circuit court opinion at 8; district court ruling at footnote 3.

contractual and statutory rights to notice, and the courts never apply it in a way that creates new rights or disturbs existing contractual rights.

Southern Group Indemnity, Inc. v. Cullen, 831 So. 2d 681 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) illustrates this point perfectly. In Cullen, the sole question was whether a premium finance company could cancel a policy on behalf of the insured to be effective on a date before its notice of cancellation was received by the insurer. The problem for the insurer in Cullen was that its policy expressly required advance notice of cancellation. <sup>16</sup> The Cullen court ruled

Under the terms of the statute [section 627.848 (1)(d)] the advance notice cancellation requirement contained in the policy applies to the premium finance company. The [premium finance] company could not, therefore, make cancellation effective prior to the insurer receiving notice of the cancellation.

*Id.* at 682. Note the essence of the ruling here: the statute will be applied to enforce existing contractual obligations as to cancellation – this statute will not be applied in a way that disturbs those contractual rights. Section 627.848 was not created to be an independent wellspring of cancellation notice rights.

The *Cullen* policy provided in part that "[t]he named insured shown in the Declarations may cancel by . . . giving us *advance* written notice of the date cancellation is to take effect."

Appellants attempt to rely on *Cullen* arguing, at IB15, that "[i]f section 627.848 prevents an insured, or its agent, from canceling its own policy with less than the required *statutory notice*, it obviously must also preclude the insurer from prematurely canceling the policy when the insurer has failed to satisfy a *statutory obligation* imposed on the insurer."

Appellants are mistaken: Cullen holds that section 627.848 prevents an insured, or its agent, from canceling its own policy with less than the required contractual notice. The operative notice provision in Cullen was a contractual requirement for advance notice of cancellation, not some statutory requirement of section 627.848. The role of section 627.848 was simply to enforce the contractual notice provision. This is what the Cullen court meant when it wrote "the advance notice requirement of the policy . . . is applicable by statute [i.e., section 627.848] to the premium finance company." Id. at 683.

The *Cullen* insurance contract required *advance* notice, and the statute simply assured that this contractual requirement was observed. In this case, the Scottsdale policy requires 10 days' notice for the sole benefit of the Mortgagee and, then, only for property insurance coverage. Here the statute must similarly be construed to enforce this contractual provision, and to do no more.

Appellants (IB at 14, 15) err in describing Scottsdale's 10-day notice obligation under the Mortgagee clause as a "statutory" obligation – it is a contractual obligation.

### c. Persuasive precedent.

The case of *Dunbar v. National Union Fire Insurance Co.*, 561 N.E.2d 450 (II. App. 1990), is useful because it demonstrates, in a similar context and under a similarly worded statute, that a policy may be cancelled as to the Named Insured even though cancellation was not yet fully executed as to the mortgagee.

Neither Scottsdale's case nor the decision on appeal depend upon the holding of *Dunbar*. Scottsdale notes that the Illinois statute is virtually identical to the Florida statute, and when a statute is patterned similarly to a statute of a sister state, the judicial construction placed on the statute by the courts of that other state properly may be considered and given weight. *See generally*, 48A Fla. Jur. 2d, *Statutes*, section 173 (describing judicial construction of uniform or pattern laws among the various jurisdictions). Appellants' dissection of *Dunbar* is of no consequence to the correctness of the decision of the federal district court in this case. The plain language of section 627.848 does not support their reading of the statute as an independent source of expanded coverage rights.

This premium finance statute appears to be such a uniform law. *See*, *e.g.*, *Atwater v. Dep't of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs*, 566 A.2d 462, 470-71(D.C. App. 1989)(noting that Congress enacted, in 1966, section 35-1561 of the District of Columbia Code, a statute that is virtually identical to section 627.848).

# d. Section 627.848 must be construed in a way that protects the sanctity and integrity of the contract and does not lead to absurd consequences.

When this Court has been faced with conflicting interpretations of a statute previously, it has invoked the principle that "the interpretation that should be applied is the one that least restricts the right to contract. This is necessary in order to give proper recognition to the constitutional prohibition against the impairment of contracts." *Palma Del Mar Condominium Assn. v. Commercial Laundries of West Florida, Inc.*, 586 So. 2d 315 (Fla. 1991).

This policy, a contract or set of contractual obligations, authorizes the first Named Insured to cancel the policy with notice to the insurer. This right may be restricted, when cancelled for non-payment, by the existence of the separate and severable contract between the Insurer and the Mortgagee providing for an additional ten days' notice to the Mortgagee. But this ten days of additional coverage exists for the Mortgagee only and only for a continuation of property insurance coverage. Section 627.848 must be applied by this Court in a way that preserves this contractual arrangement.

Moreover, the construction of the statute urged by Appellants would give the insured something for nothing – liability insurance coverage for a period beyond

that which it paid a premium. <sup>19</sup> Remember, this policy was cancelled because Cuban Club did not pay its premium. A judically-created extension of coverage for a period Scottsdale received no premium would impose a substantial, uncompensated, liability on Scottsdale.

Further, Appellants' proposed construction of this statute would create an internal conflict in the statute: On the one hand, the statute provides for cancellation of the policy upon receipt of the notice by the insurer [section 627.848 (1)(c)]; but, on the other hand, under the Appellants' proposal, the policy would not be cancelled upon delivery of notice to the insurer, but would be delayed until the entire policy was cancelled for every class of insured on every separate coverage. This result would fatally conflict with section 627.848(1)(c).

## e. Appellants' premium refund question

Appellants' premium refund issue was not raised by the facts of the case, and it is not an issue that needs to be decided. The argument was not raised in its opposition papers in the trial court. (DE 15). It is an entirely theoretical question and is therefore not ripe for review. Even so, closer scrutiny of this question

Scottsdale may have received the entire premium from the premium finance company, but the "cancellation ticket," attached to the policy and made a part of this Court's record, shows it calculated and processed the refund premium. (App. 9). There is <u>no evidence</u> that Scottsdale kept premium for a period during which it did not provide coverage.

reveals that the answer would support the result reached by the federal district court.

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